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Licence No. 05-00046-13
.

Notice of Viointion

e;

Based on the results of the NRC inspection conducted on November 11, 1976,
certain activities appear to be in noncompliance with NRC regulations as
indicated below:

,

Contrary to 10 CFR 20,207, licensed byproduct material was not
secured against unauthorized removal from the Nuclear Medicine
Hot Laboratory during a period on November 11, 1976, when the
area was unrestricted due to lack of licensee control.

' ':" This is an infraction.

.

::

.

I. .. e
' |

I

-
;.

;

..
,

, . . -
t

-
.

.

h Q4970220
"~

GLADE 96-395
_ PDR -



'
.

2 *
. A ^

.

FORM NRC T66
unitso staf ss NUCLaan a8GukAfo4f Comuassoon

[Mc OEs INSPECTION Et ENFORCEMENT - STATISTICAL DATA
" '

.

F ACILITV N AME
ETIV E r , CU1UEauU

INSPE CTOR tS) PRINCIPAL INSPECTOR K'* *

f L8CENSEENENDOR DeparPmant of the Army ,,y,,,

TRANS DOCE(7 NUMBEM n) REPORT NO. DA TES IN41NVE S rnNsP REGION
ACTION 2 9 20 FROM CONDUCTING
TYPE 25

gg) ACTlvlTY
Io131o10111213131 a l/ It I /Irlili =>

'*"8"
AE 16 19 M M O D Y Y

04 LICENSE NO (8Y PROOUCT) } p
2 ,$ 2. 3,g._.c Ill|IIIIIIIIII a l lllll l(l*l

M M D 0 V Y
TYPE 08 ACTIV:TV CONDUCTED (CHICK ONE SOX ONLY)

3S 34

*INSPECTION OTHER

IF Of O ROUTINE (FEE) 06 O MANAGEMENT AUOff 09 O MATL ACCT. 13 0 (MPORT | 14 0 INQUIRY
02 kROUTINE INO FEE)06 O MANACEuf NT vlSIT 10 0 PLANT SEC. | 1S O INVESTICATION
03 0 INCIDENT 07 O SPECIAL 110 8NVENT. VE Rl8'

(IF INVEST. ALSO04 O ENFORCEMENT 00 0 VENDOR 12 O SHIPMENT / EXPORT CHECK BLOCK 0)

IN%PECTION OR INVESTIGATION: 10 ANNOUNCED
2[UNANNOUNCE D ,

INSPECTaONhNVESTIGAflON NOTIFICAflON ICHECK ONE SON ONLYi

H

I O Sei 2kRECIONAL OFFICE LETTER 3 0 REFE RRED TO HOS FOR ACTION 4 O REGION LETTER & HOS FOR ACTION

INSPECTION /tNVETTsGATION FINDINGS (CHECK ONE 80x ONLVI
31

y

2 kNONCOMPLI ANCE 3 O DEv8ATION 4 0 h0NCOMPLtANCE & DEVIATION10 CLE AR '

| * J NUMSER OF NONCOMPLIANCE ITEMS IN LETTER TO LICENSEE: NOTE: CHANGE MUST SE SueMITTED
ON 706 WHENEVER PREV 40USLY

, CITE D ITEM OP NONCOMPLI A8sCE
K IS OFFICIALLY DELETED FROMNUMeE R OF DEVIATION ITEMS IN LETTE R TO LICENSE E;

THE RECORD.

42 43
L NUMeER OF NONCOMPuANCE ITEMS IDENTIFsED SY LICENSEE LAND NOT CITED)

M NUMGER OP ASNORMAL OCCURRENCES REVIEWED ONSITE THIS INSPECitON

REGIONAL 08 FICE LETTER OR REPORT TR ANSMITTAL DATE FOR INSPECTION 04 INVESTIGATION

641 OR L.ETTER ISSUED TO LIC,ENSEE REPORT SENT TO HOS FOR A,CTIONN . 8 S

111112|417161 | | | | | | |
M M O D Y Y M M O D Y Y

SUBJECT OF INVESTIGATION (CHECK ONE 80x ONLY)
SS St

TYPE A 10 CF R 20 403 TYPEG 10 CF R 20 406 MtSC j
01 O ENTE ANAL OVEREXPOSURE 06 0 810 INT. OVEREXPOSURE 15 0 CRITICALITY 210 EOuiP. F AILuRE
02 0 E xTE RNAL OV E RExPOSURE OF 0 120 EXT.OVEREXPO6URE 160 LOSS / THEFT 220 ALLEGATION / COMPLAINT !
03 0 RELEASE TO UNREST. AREA ce O 13 0 Excess RAD. LEVELS 170 MUF 230 PuellC fNTEREST
04 D LOSS OF F ACILITY 00 0 140 EXCESS CONC. LEVELS IS O TRANSPORTATION 240 $AsOTAGE
05 O PROPERTV DAMAGE 10 0 19 D CONTAM/LE AKING SOURCE 2S O ASNORMAL OCCUR.

20 0 ENVIRONMENTAL EVENT 260 OTHER

HE ADOUARTERS ENTRIES
., ,

P
HOS ACTION ON INSP/ INVEST REFE RRED 8Y REGION:

,$ R..-. t C i
._ . .T

NOTE OLOCKS I TO L MUST BE VERaFIED
0 DATE HOS ENFORCEMENT LETTER. NOTICE. ORDER liSUED. SY IE.HOS WHENEVER

M M O D Y Y ENMES ARE MADE IN BLOCKS'- 88
P. Q. ANO R.

CIVIL PENALTY ISSUE D. IO,

89 T2_

S DATE 706 ENTE RED INTO COMPUTE R Fett IMO/YRI:
AsTS I

f REFERENCE.M M Y Y_

i

. . _ . . . _ _ _ _ . _ _ _ _ _
|



4

Foa" '*C '" '' 5*' ' .

USNRC - INSPECTION tr ENFORCEMENT STATISTICAL DATA

NOTE: STATUS COCHNG:
f'NO T E: MODJLE REQUIRING )

'(LEAVE BLANK
NOTE % COMPLETE AND STATUS.

rOR MC 92.93 & 94 U ONLY wHEN MODULE IBLANe( . TO REM AIN OPEN
C- CLOSEDPROCEDURES ANO 30 - 7038 } ( INSPECTES IS92-7018. )L- REOPEN & LEAVE OPEN

|

P. REOPEN THIS TRANSACTION -(
(ONLY j

{ MODULE TRACKING INFORMATION h.','
t

NONCOMPLtANCE

g MODULE NO. INSP. O y W L REO- N/C N/C N/C N/C NiC
_

p
= a ErrORT CO"- => < s s s s Da

N. y CODE E CODE E CODE E CODE E CODEE A N- XPEND TO 20
I :<s o$ 3 D ED THt$ DATE 3 f $6 fE 5 V V V V V $e

_e_ _
a ,-

l o 3 B off _

* o S 3 a

~

8' 4 0 5 l o e A c A.1* ' 5 7 8 7 f o
_

I Is o f a 6 1 8 7 I <> 8s- ' 5 9 2 7 0
_

___ _

* $ 9 % 7 0 C 0 ' O f
_

)

_

8 4
*

- ,

-

8 5 )
-

-

e 6
-

_. ;

- _

I _

= 1

_

8 9
- I

_

9 9

1 2 3 4 to 11 13 14 16 U 24 25 at 29 32 33 36 37 40 41 44 e5g

LINE COLUMN NUMBER SHOWN IN BOTTOM LINE. O C"Ec" "'"' '' ^'^
CONTINUES ON SUBSEOUENT SHf ET.

I

' .%
, e

e

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ . _ _ . , , + e



- _ ~ _ . _ . , _ . . _ . . ~ .. . _ . _ . . _ ._ . _ . - _ _ . m . - - . . , , . . _ _ _ . . _ _ _ . . . - _.-

,
,_ '

.
.

. m. A (3- * **
*

PO8tM NRC.7964
JULY 1975 ,

(MC 065)
WIMf00 STATSS IsuCLEAft fig 0u6Af04f Cotetsteescas*

INSPECTION & ENFORCEMENT-STATISTICAL DATA SUPPLEMENT

OENEmAL INSTRUCTIONS SLOCK A MUST BE CHECKED TO SHOW TYPE OF INFORMAftON CONTA6NEO ON THE FONW
ONE FORM t$ TO BE COMPLETED FOR EACH

(Al ITEM OF NOP4COMpuANCE CITED. ,

,. ' (B) (TEM OF NONCOMPUANCE NOT CITED. ANO.,

(C) DEVIATION CITED IN ENFORCEMENT CORRESPONDENCE
,

76-0103001233 OR uCENsE NUueER . REPOar NUueER ,
oOCKET NUMeER

.

I 3 3-
A-TYPE OF FiasoleaQS 8-SPECIFIC NONCOMPU ANCE

' ' " " " = * "''' 141c IM91eJ 21
-

OR
,

A Q peONConspuANCE SPECIFIC DEVIATION

7 . 17
-

IiIIIIIilIIIIIIII'- ' ' " " * " ' " ' " " ' " ' * " ' * '

C DevtATIOst IDENTIFICATION SPECIFIC guide OR STANDARO

C-NOW ITEM iptNTIPtED D.cohaEQUENCES
'

(CNECM ONE SON ONLY) (CMeCM ONE BOX ONLY) 4

L UCENees
*

A CAUSE OR CONSTITUTED ACTUAL OCCURRENCE
' '

r g NAo ,OTENTiAL To RE. ULT N ACTuAt OCCu ENCEi g PEC . 1.1.

a'a aoT ave act<~T'A' To aE=u'.T 'N AcTuA' accuaa=Nc=o O oT*=a
' a

.

E-EMElippf INPOpmeAtlON F-AODITIONAL UNITS
(ENTER "M" IN FIRST SOE POLLOWED SY OfMER usef 80VMSEMS)

30 S CNECK SOM IF EMEMPT INFORMATION
21 N

a c= |1III |
IS INCLUDED SN TEXT BELOW, PER

'

,

. , . I

t.

a-gg i sNTum uP T0 son CNARACTaRs FOR EACN rTEM. iF THE TEXT OF THE NONCOMPuaNCE OR oEviATiON EmCEEas TNis NuiseER.iT|
jWiu. at NECEssARY TO PARAPNRAsEi ,,

, . ;,

-,
(1) i

IContrary to 10 CFR 20.207, licensed byproduct material was not |'
msecured against unauthorized removal from the Euclear Medicina J

'

Hot Laboratory during a period on November 11, 1976, when the im
area was unrestricted due to lack of licensee control. l,

q ,

a

m

m
,

.a
m

(tel

(11)

(12) 1

|.

(la j

(14) !

(15)

(108

4 | 8 | N | 0 | 4 | peOTE. DATA ENTRY CLERK-THE LAST UNE ENTEREO MUST COedTAIN 1His 89eFOpinAATION
~ s s |

.. . - - - - _ _ _ ----_ -_ ___



', ,

4

'

FO W M C 756 um reo starts nuctEan ascutaronv cowess,o=

AUGUST 1976
INSPECitJN Et ENFORCEMENT - STATISTICAL eATAiu: cusi

''' p acit,7 y p,A9E Fit n i-nte. G m *nl Ib s.ptCTORiS C- D R"Atm PR INCIP AL INSPE CTOR

, , LICENSElvENDon __ nt Of th h N ZA =a l REVsEWER

OOC 4 T r.UWNL 7A t fiEPORT NO Daf ts lNQiNVESTUNSF RE GION
ynx.3 FHOM CONDUCTING
ACT ON 2 9 20 25

ACTivlTY
TvPE gg ,

J, 0 3 0 ) 1 2 3 3 1 2 1 0 7 6 ' ' , ''C '
3,5 ,,

AE M M O O Y y

|7 | 6|0|2 |OR LICENSE NO lov PRODUCT'
10

w. 2 16 26 31

.h *"" ! ! !40)
Il I? 1 10' 7 6 ): w% '

* M M O O Y Y

TvPE OF ACTIVITY CONOUCTE O (Cwf CK ONf Box ONLVI

33 34

INSPECTION OTHER

I
F 01 O ROUTINE (Fell 06 O MANAGEMENT AUDIT 09 O MATL ACCT. 130 IMPORT g 14 0 INQUIRY

02 O ROUTINE INO FEE) 06 O MAN AGEMENT VISIT 10 0 PLANT SEC. | 15 g INVESTIGATION

03 0 INCIDENT OF 0 SPECIAL 11 O INVENT. VERIF

04 O ENFORCEMENT OB O VENDOR 12 O SHIPMENT! EXPORT CHECK BLOCK 0)|

te.SPECT80N OR INVe$71GAf SON- 10 ANNOUNCED 2X3 UNANNOUNCED

35

INSPECTION wvESTIGAfiON NOTIFICATION (CHECK ONE 80X ONLY4

36
H

I D 641 2 0 REGIONAL OF FICE LETTE R 3 h RE FERRED TO HOS FOR ACTION 4 0 REGION LETTER & HOS FOR ACTION

INSPECTION'INVESTIGAf TON FINDINGS (CHECK ONE BOX ONLYI

37

1 bCLE AR 2 O NONCOMPLI ANCE 3 O DEVIATION 4 0 NONCOMPLIANCE & DEVIATION

as sei NOTE: CHANGE MUST BE SUBMITTED
| 0 |0 |J NUMBER OF NONCOMPLI ANCE ITEUS IN LETTER TO LICENSEE: ON ree wHENEvER PREviousLY

CITED ITEM OF NONCOMPLIANCEno 4, ,

IS OFFICI ALLY DELETED FROM i

K NUM8t R OF DEVI ATION ITEMS IN LETTE R TO LICENSEE: |0 |0 | THE RECORD |
1

42 43
#

L NUM6ER OF NONCOMPUANCE ITEMS tDENTIFIED 8Y LICENSEE (ANO NOT CITED) |0[0|
'

,

44 45
|M NUM8ER OF ABNORMAL OCCURRENCES REVIEWED ONSITE THis IN SPECTION

REGIONAL OFFICE LETTER OR REPORT TR ANSMITTAL DATE FOR INSPECTION OR INVESTIGATION
~

|
691 OR LETTE R ISSUED TO LICENSE E REPORT SENT TO HOS FOR ACTION 1

N 46 $t 52 SF |

IIIIllI 1112111617167 1
'

|M M D 0 Y Y M M D D v v

jSUBJECT OF INVESTIGATION iCHECK ONE 80X ONLyn
66 Se I

TYPE A 10 CF R 20 401 TYPE 8 to CF R 20 405 MISC
|

01 O INTERNAL OVEREXPOSURE 06 0 110 INT, OVERE XPOSURE 15 O CRITICALITY 28 O EOute. F AILUREa

02 O E XTE RNAL OVE RE xPOSURE 07 0 12 0 E XT. OVE REXPOSURE 16 0 LOSS /T HE F T 2MLLEGATION COMPL AINT
03 0 RELE ASE TO UNRE5Y. ARE A 08 0 13 0 E XCESS RAD. LEVELS 17 0 MUF 23 0 PUBLIC tNTE REST

04 0 LOS5 0F F ACILtTY 09,0 140 EXCESS CONC LEVELS 18 0 TRANSPORTATION 24 O SABOTAGE
,

|.
05 O PROPE RTV OAMAGE 10 0 19 O CONTAM'LE AKING SOURCE 25 0 A8 NORMAL OCCUR;

i 20 0 ENVIRONMENTAL EVENT 760 OTHER
|

NE ADOUARTE R$ ENTmlES
60 61 9

P MOs ACTION ON INSP INVEST REFERRED BY REGION
E5ee Refe ence Lm for Coon

62 67,

a NOTE BLOCKS i TO L MUST BE VERIFIED
O MTE HOS ENFORCEVENT LETTER, NOTICE. ORDER iS5vED BY tE HOS WHENEVER

ENTRIES ARE M ADE 6N BLOCnSM M D D v Y88 P O AND R
CivsL PENALTY ISSUE D 1 g,

69 T2 ,

4

$ DATE 766 ENTE RED ia.TO COYPUTER FILE IMO VRs a,gs*

#
M M v v REFERENCE



*
e

'Fosau *d'O FM - StDE 2
USNRC - INSPECTION Et ENFORCEMENT STATISTICAL DATA

i

. NOTE: STATUS CODING;
NOTE: MODULE REQUIRING )NOTE % COMPLETE AND STATUS-

LEAVE BLAN4 FOR MC 92.93 & 94 BLANK - TO REMAIN OPEN US ONLY WHEN MODutf
PROCEDURES AND 30- 7038. C- CLOSED tNSPECTED IS 92-701B )-L- REOPEN & LEAVE OPEN

THIS TRANSACTION |
( P- REOPEN_ jONLY

~
f

_

- - n3

'' '

MODULE TRACKING INFORMATION NONCOMPLtANCE,

RgTg MODULE NO. INSP. N/C N/C NC N/C N'C .% L. ,
1 X' J EFFORT COM- e <

3

E 5 a- g. d Y^PE" ""o'. "'i O g 3 g- h. $ CODE E CODE E CODE E CODE E CCDE C ""{

a s s s s s nETE *

1 iI 9 E ED THIS DATE g f $6 fE $ Y V V v
.

"
e

= su s iNSP.
_

7
.-

8 0 5 3 0 7 0 3 B
_ I'
--

.. . ,

e 1 5 9 2' 7 0 4 B -

_
_

s. 2 5 7 8 7 1 0 B 0 0 4 1 C 0 ! ! !
_ i i . ._;

_

0 3 .

;.
_ . _.,
-

.

|a <
- D

i. S .

l_
_

* "
-

- . _ . _

_
. ..

S 7
l - _ _ . .-

'

'e 8 -

_

B 9

1 2 3 4 10 11 13 14 16' Y h 25 ~28 W W 33 36 37 40 41 44 asg
i

LINE COLUMN NUMBER SHOWN IN BOTTOM NNE. cHtcR HEnE 8F DATA ' !

CONTINUCS ON SuerEOUf NT SHE[I

. <



m-

/
'*

. -
,

/, ..

a*

' I*I3 PECTIC: PEFORT |

1. Unme an.! address of licer.see e. Date of Inspection s o v //,jffj,v
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1 ", . Inspection Ournry (Including violations and safety items, and status
of previously reparted viclations and safety ite s, etc.)

p, s s , s , i-,,.,, k.+ : % < is % m +, H J .1% , r i- -

Fo o~ m #1 9 i e29u*8 |

N| g, f ,q .,,4c c.+e f,y ,|(4, jt*Y, O n s* cq og egsag[ q .e eq .t h 1ff *cf ma

H fi G * ** *** *A J * * *>|m No - * *s $i o C F*tt .3 0. .) * *! f]s/f'' <d'* t,c . .- n + u i . ' '*~
~

a.,,..u....,,.e << - .-.a \

1k. Sur.rary of Licensed Program (Kind of program number of people, rate
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12. Radiological Safety Proc < dures (Uritten eperating e.nd e:r.ercency
procedures, availability of procedur :s, license and re6ulaticr.c,
training, Forra AEC-3, etc . )
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19 Personnel Monitoring and Exposure to External Radiation (Type of
monitoring, range of exposures, supplier, period v.rn, exposure
history, etc.)
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21. Effluents -to Unrestricted Areas _ (Types, source, measurements, flow
rates, applicable MFC, analytical procedures, environmental samples,

etc.)
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22. Disposals (Methods, typical quantities, etc.)-
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P3 Mincellaneoun Surveys, Er?.luations and Records (External radiat ion
levels, contanination levels, leap. tests, etc.)

* * '' b* * ''' ' A'recs <p b a 4 .LParksys, p u e v.s ed r d '*e as
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24. Special License Conditions
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25 Posting and Labelling
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26. Independent Measurements (Type, results, comparison to licensee results,
etc.) )
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27 operations observed
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28. Incidents, Overexposures, Theft or Loss, Equipment Malfunction (Those
.

not described elsewhere should be reported here.) |
,

D Yo**wtb* n*|sk(s y e e h.f
'

e or,1,t y s

.

I

29 Other Information or Continuation from Previous Paragraphs
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~5e following named individuals are currently approved by the FAMC/
':adioisotope Committee as principal users:

|

Uranch, Leslie B. In Vitro I-125 - 40 uCi I G
I-125 - 60 uCi R A 5 TLTC, MC

Bethlenfalvay, NC
COL, MC In Vitro C-14 - 200 uCi Leucine

H-3 - 200 uCi Leucine

Brown, George L. In Vitro Hydrogen-3 Tritiated
LTC, MSC Thymidine and Uridine.

each at 5 mci

See Incl. for Nuc MedChaed, Nasser V.
Procedures and IND'sLTC, MC

Glenn, Guy C. In Vitro See Incl.
COL, MC

Hesselgesser, Robert D. Human AECL Source No. 1462, j

Theratron 80MM , MC
7098 Ci(Jun 75)

0'Barr, Thomas P. In Vitro See Incl.
DAC .

Sieber, Paul E. Cobalt-60 Teletherapy sour
,

AECL Source No. 1462,COL, MC
Theratron 80
7098 Ci (Jun 75)

Nelson, H. S. In Vitro 1-125 - 3.5 mci
COL, MC

.

.

4
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. . Ti :sicens 4: y Medical Center Radioisotope qcr:-it:ee*

Emr. 'f re Certi ficat ion

-der 3'u cf paraps* 7d 2 . AF '.C-37,_ _ _
_

> = ..

.r a .. .c r . a . : . . , r. : :ne fel"..v.r; ; retekres using :he f: ~ '. M : 1_. s: a pe s a:.

r' : :: s in n s A r- ? " W ': a 1 C e n t e r. The ir fividual dosage may e y sii rS:1y f rom that
indica:ed, tr:seedures lired out end ini:ialed by the Chief, Nuclear Medicine Service
are not ir.cluded in the authorization.

ISOTOPE IX15 E FORM PROCEDURES

I-131 10 uCi Na1 Thyroid Uptake
I-131 100 uCi NaI Thyroid Scan
1-131 15 mci NaI Treatment of Hyperthyroidism
1-131 100 uCi NaI Conversion Ratio & PBI 131
1.-131 15 mci. NaI Treatment of Graves Disease
I-131 100-150 mci NaI Treatment of Thyroid Malignancy
I-131 1 mci NaI Chest Scan
I-131 300 uCi Macroaggregated Albumin Lung Scan

I-131 0.5 uCi* Hippuran Renogram
:

I-131 1.5 uCi* Rose Bengal Liver Function
I-131 5 uCi Albumin Placertal Localization
I-131 5 uCi Albumin Blood Volume
In-111 500 uCi ITIPA Chelate Cisternography & Ventriculograp1y

I-131 2 mci NaI Diagnosis of thyroid carcinoma
I-125 0.5 uCi NaI T-3 In-vitro

I-125 0.1 uCi Na1 T-4 In-vitro

Tc99m 15 mci Pertechnetate Brain Scan
Tc99m 300 uCi Pertechnetate Placental cten
Tc99c 5 mci Sulfur Colloid Liver Scan

Tc99m 3 mci Pertechnerate Joint Scan

Au-198 150 uCi Colloidal Liver Scan
|

Cr-51 50 uCi Sodium Chromate Blood volume
Cr-51 150 uCi Sodium Chromate Red Blood Cell & Platelet Surv |

i

Cr-51 200 uCi sodium Chromate spleen Scan ,

Cr-51 50 uCi Sodium Chromate & Chromic Chiride Determination of GI Bleeding
Co-57 0.5 uCi Vitamin B-12 Schilling Test

Chlormerodrin Renal Scan iHg-197 150 uCi -

Hg-197 150 uCi Chlormerodrin Renal Uptake J

Hg-197 1 mci Chlormerodrin Brain Scan
Sr-85 100 uCi Nitrate Bone Scan I

P-32 25 mci Soluble Phosphate Colloidal Treatment of polycythemia vera
Chromic Phosphate Leukemia & bone metastases

Xe-133 15 mci Cas or Gas dissolved in saline Pulmonary function & meaurement !
of myo. cardial blood flow |

H-3 Water Total body water i

Na24 Sodium Chloride Total exchangeable sodium |

Tc99m 15 mci DTPA Renal Scan
Tc99m 15 mci Phosphate Bone Scan
I-125 0.1 uCi NaI ETR In-Vitro

4 Copies
1 to Individual

-

1 to 201 file .

I to Mins. of Radioisotope Committee
1 to Files of Radioisotope Committee

*per kg. of body weight
I

Ch airm'an ,
Radioisotope Committee~

__
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IIS ?-X Location of Use of Radioactive Material F/E
i

C, Fire Department RPO 9 Nov 76
Dr. Hesselgesser/dc/8801/30

1. The following list of locations where radioactive material is used at FAMC is
provided to update information in your files:

a. Bldg. 500: Clinical Pathology, north inboratory - room 2109 2nd floor
| Dr. Clean, Ms. Bunker - 8993

b. Bldg. 500: Radiation Therapy, basement north
Dr. Essselgasser - 8801,

c. Bids. 511: Muclear Medicine Service
Dr. Chaed - 8646

|
* d. Bldg. 600: Clinical Investigation Service, east - ground floor,

i Dr. O'Barr - 3098
1

i e. Bldg. 601: Clinical Investigation Service, west - ground floor
j LTC Brown - 8951

''
f. Bldg 600: Pediatric Allergy, east and - second floor

Dr. Branch and Dr. Nelson - 3098 --

! g. Bldg. 603 - Radioactive Waste Disposal Laboratory, east and groundfloor
; Responsible Officer: CPT Yancy - 3098

2. Should a fire develop in any of these areas, the provisions of ER 40-604
apply and the undersigned should be notified immediately.

|
I

'|

| ROBERT D. HESSELCESSER, H. D.
MAJOR, E - 8801 - 781-2639

'
Asst. RadiationProtection Officer

\ NASSER GRAED, H. D.
LTC, E - 8646 - 341-8973
Radiation Protection Officer

ROBERT E. YANCY, III
CPT, MSC - 3098 - 341-1652,

! Alternate
4

li

i
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.
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